

OFFICIAL BYLAWS

FLORIDA YOUNG REPUBLICANS

Adopted: March 18, 2023 at Tallahassee, Florida

ARTICLE I - NAME

Section 1 - Name

A. The name of this organization shall be the FLORIDA YOUNG REPUBLICANS, hereinafter sometimes referred to as 'the Federation', 'the Organization', 'FLYR', and/or 'FLYRs'.

B. Upon the board's approval, FLYRs may adopt additional trade names by filing a 'Doing Business As' form with the Florida Secretary of State.

ARTICLE II - POWERS & INTENT

Section 1 - Intent

- A. The purposes of the Federation are:
1. To advance the growth of the Republican Party of Florida through the creation, organization, and promotion of Young Republican Clubs throughout the State of Florida;
 2. To provide information exchange among local Clubs, the Federation, the Young Republican National Federation, and the Republican Party of Florida;
 3. To provide a standard framework for successful Club organization, financing, and communication for all Federated Clubs;
 4. To provide leadership training and other opportunities for growth to the individual members; and
 5. To advance a legislative agenda and facilitate legislative advocacy in the interest of Florida Young Republican members.

Section 2 - Powers

- A. The Federation shall have all powers necessary or proper to:
1. Direct, manage and control its business, property, and funds.
 2. Furthermore, the FLYR shall have all powers necessary and appropriate to do all things required to accomplish the purposes for which the Federation was organized.
- B. The FLYR shall have exclusive authority, pursuant to 103.081, Florida Statutes, to grant the use of the name "Young Republican" to a chartered club.

ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP

Section 1 - Types of Membership

- A. Each Member of a federated club within the federation must be classified as one of the following:
1. Active Member - An active membership shall be defined as any individual who is:
 - a. At least 18 years of age but not beyond the conclusion of the 1st State Convention that follows their 40th birthday;
 - b. A registered Republican;
 - c. A citizen of the United States of America, American National, or legal permanent resident;
 - d. Signed an application for membership in a chartered club; and
 - e. Paid the chartered club's dues in the last year.
 2. Associate Member - Any person not meeting the qualifications for Active Membership may become an Associate Member.

. Associate Members have all rights and privileges of membership in the Federation and those granted by the Club except:

1. Associate Members may not be voting members; and
2. Associate Members may not hold leadership/officer positions

a. Dues for Associate Members shall not be paid to the Federation.

3. Honorary Member - Federated Clubs may establish standards for granting Honorary Memberships.

. An Honorary Member may also be an Active Member if they meet the requirements for Active Membership in the Federation and the Club.

a. Honorary Members who are not Active Members shall have all rights and privileges of membership in the Federation and those granted by the Club in which they are a member but may not vote or serve as an Officer, Delegate, or Alternate Delegate to the Federation.

b. Dues for Honorary Members shall be paid to the Federation only if the member is also an Active Member.

B. The Federation as a whole may allow persons who cannot join or form a Federated Club to become an "At-Large Member".

a. At-Large Members shall be residents of a County who do not elect to join a neighboring county's Young-Republican Club, or where it would be prohibited to join a near-by Federated Club.

b. An At-Large Member Shall be classified as an Active \ Member and is entitled to all other rights and privileges of such membership.

C. The Federation shall permit Dual Membership, which is defined as a person who retains Membership in two or more Federated Clubs.

0. A Dual Member is responsible for paying the required annual dues of all Clubs of which they are a Member, as defined by federated club bylaws.

1. Dual Members shall, within 10 days of joining more than one Federated Club, Notify the Region Chairman and each club of which they are a member:

. of their membership in other federated clubs, and

a. their selection of a Home Club.

b. If no designation is made by the dual member, they shall be deemed a member of the club in the county in which they are registered to vote.

2. For credentialing purposes, the federated club to which the Dual Member has designated as their 'Home Club' will be the club they can represent at the convention for voting and candidate purposes.

. Only the club claiming the member for purposes of credentialing shall be required to remit dues as required in Article IV, Section 2.

Section 2. Expulsion of Members

- A. The FLYR Executive Committee may, by a three-quarters ($\frac{3}{4}$) vote, expel an individual member for due cause.
1. Good cause shall include, but not be limited to failing or ceasing to perform the duties of the office, or ceasing to be a Member of the Federation.
- B. Any two voting Executive Committee Members may propose the expulsion of any Member by delivering to the Chairman written Calls for Expulsion.
1. The Chairman shall place the expulsion proceedings on the agenda of the first Executive Committee meeting to occur more than twelve days after receipt of sufficient Calls for Expulsion and shall notify the Secretary.
 2. The Secretary shall send written notice of expulsion to the Member under consideration.
 - a. The notice of the expulsion proceedings shall be sent by certified mail or electronically, read receipts required.
 - b. The notice of expulsion proceedings shall be transmitted at least ten days before the meeting.
 - c. Said notice shall include the grounds for expulsion and the time and place of the meeting at which expulsion is to be considered.
 - d. The Member shall also have the opportunity to be heard at the meeting at which expulsion is considered.
- C. A Member who has been expelled is not eligible for any kind of membership, but a Member may be reinstated by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of the FLYR Executive Committee or by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of the delegates at the FLYR State Convention.
1. A Member may not be considered for reinstatement for a minimum of two (2) years after their expulsion.

ARTICLE IV - CHARTERED FEDERATED CLUBS

Section 1 - Eligibility

- A. Membership in this organization shall be open to any group in the State of Florida, comprised of 10 or more Young Republicans who meet the requirements for Active Membership as outlined in Article III, Section 1(A), that:
1. Pays the annual dues to the Federation;
- a. This option may be waived at the board's discretion in lieu of a financial audit to be provided to the FLYR Executive Committee within 180 days of chartering with the FLYR.
2. Provides a Constitution and/or Bylaws which are not in conflict with those of the Federation;
- . This stipulation shall be deemed completed if the Applicant Club:
1. Passes a Model Constitution/Bylaws
 2. Has its Constitution and Bylaws approved by the FLYRs executive board by a simple-majority vote.
 3. Signs an agreement acknowledging the name 'Young Republicans' is the intellectual property of the Florida Young Republicans and the Young Republican National Federation.

Section 2. Application for Charter and Granting of New Charters

- A. Any person or group of people that wish to apply to charter a federated club may apply to the FLYR Executive Board.
- B. The application shall consist of:
1. a copy of the applicant club's governing document(s), signed by the applicant club's president and secretary;
 2. a list of names, full addresses, telephone numbers, e-mail addresses, and dates of birth for each officer and member;
 3. FLYR dues in the amount of five dollars (\$
 4. 5.00) for each active member of the applicant club; and
- a. In lieu of submission of dues, the board shall accept a Financial Audit Report that demonstrates the applicant club holds a monetary amount greater than or equal to \$5.00 for each active member in their club bank account.
1. The applicant club must provide the Financial Audit Report to the executive board within 180 days of being granted a charter.
 5. a Statement by the club's president and secretary attesting to each active member's Republican Party Registration.
- C. Once a completed application has been received by the Executive Board, the Chairman shall schedule an Executive Board vote on the application at the next regularly scheduled Executive Board Meeting
1. Prior to a vote of approval from the Executive Board, the applicants may hold meetings and use pre-approved standardized forms provided by the FLYR Chairman.
- D. Upon a simple-majority vote of the executive board in favor of granting a charter to the applicant club, the club is a duly-chartered member of the FLYR.

Section 3. Revocation of Charter by FLYR Executive Committee

- A. The Executive Committee may, by a three-quarters ($\frac{3}{4}$) vote, revoke the charter of any Federated Club for good cause.
- B. "Good cause" as used in this Section shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
1. Failing to fulfill the Annual submission deadline as delineated in Article VII, Section 4 of these bylaws.
 2. Other conduct which is in violation of these Bylaws or which is detrimental to the welfare of the Federation or the Republican Party.
- C. Any two voting Executive Board Members may propose the revocation of the charter of any Federated Club by delivering to the Chairman written Calls for Revocation of Club Charter.
- D. The Chairman shall place revocation proceedings on the agenda of the first Executive Board meeting to occur more than 35 days after receipt of sufficient Calls for Expulsion and shall notify the Secretary.
- E. The Secretary shall send written notice of revocation of charter to the President of the Club under consideration.

1. Said notice shall be sent by certified mail and by any other means likely to reach the President of said Club and be transmitted at least thirty days in advance of the meeting.
 2. Said notice shall include the grounds for revocation as well as the time and place of the meeting at which the revocation is to be considered.
- F. The Club shall also have the opportunity to be heard at the meeting at which expulsion is to be considered.
- G. The charter of any Club may be reinstated by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of the Executive Board or by two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of the delegates at the FLYRs State Convention.

Section 4. Voluntary Surrender of Charter

- A. A Federated Club may surrender its charter and revoke its affiliation with the FLYRs by providing written notice to the FLYRs Chairman.
1. Notice from the Federated Club seeking voluntary shall include the following:
 - a. Signatures from all Active members listed on the most recent roster that was submitted to the FLYRs affirming the decision to surrender the club's charter;
 - b. Agreement (in writing) to discontinue the use of any form of the name Young Republican in any and all communication formats and entity documents upon its departure from the Federation, as agreed to upon chartering as described in Section 1 of this article.
- B. The Chairman shall transmit said notice to all members of the Executive Board, which shall accept the revocation by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) majority vote in favor.
- C. Any remaining funds shall be surrendered to the FLYR Treasurer for deposit and keeping a seed fund for future clubs in that locality.
1. Funds shall be held for 4 years or 2 election cycles before disbursement to the general fund.

Section 5. Formation of Clubs from At-Large Members

- A. Once there are thirty (30) At-Large Members from the same County, they may form a Federated Club within ninety (90) days, or take a vote annually to not form a club, or their at-large status will be revoked and they will no longer be Members of the Federation.

Section 6. Minimum Requirements for Clubs to Remain Members of the Federation

- A. In order for a Federated Club to remain chartered with the organization, the club must, at a minimum, meet the requirements outlined in this section.
- B. Federated Clubs shall only be chartered with this organization, the Florida Young Republicans. Dual Chartering is Prohibited except where a FLYR club is seeking to dual charter with the Florida Young Republicans and the Florida College Republicans.
1. Any violation of this requirement shall result in immediate Revocation of Charter without opportunity to appeal.
- C. Each Club's Governing Documents (whether a Constitution, Bylaws or both) shall provide for elections of officers.
1. Election of Officers must be held biennially (every two years) or annually (every year) at defined times per the bylaws of the club.

2. Elections must be announced to the FLYRs at least thirty (30) days prior to the elections taking place
 3. Each Club must allow for an Outside Observer to attend their elections.
- a. An Outside Observer, for the purposes of this section, shall include at least one member of the FLYRs Executive Board, or at least one member of the FLYRs Executive Committee who does not reside in the same Region as the Club holding elections.
4. Each Club must, no later than seventy-two (72) hours after the certification of the results of their elections, send notice via electronic mail to the FLYRs Executive Board of the election results.
 - . This notice must include the new officers Names, Positions, and Contact Information.
- D. Each club shall hold, at minimum, four (4) meetings per year.
1. This shall include one Business Meeting Per Year containing a Budget and an Annual Report on the State of the Club.
- E. If any club fails to meet the requirements stated in this section, the club shall be subject to disciplinary action, including but not limited to:
1. Immediate Removal of Officers of the Club, and a Call to Elections within sixty (60) days to be administered by the FLYR Executive Board
 2. Submission of new Governing Documents which are in compliance with this section
 3. Revocation of Charter

ARTICLE V - OFFICERS

Section 1: Elected Officers The Elected Officers of the Federation shall consist of the following:

- A. Chairman
1. The Chairman shall be the chief executive officer of the Federation.
 2. The Chairman shall be deemed to be an ex-officio member of all Committees, including the Convention Committees.
 3. The powers and duties of the Chairman shall include but not be limited to the following:
 - a. To supervise and coordinate the activities of the Federation in conjunction with the Board;
 - b. To appoint committees and members of those committees with advice and consent of the board;
 - c. To create or terminate official non-elected offices and appoint persons to such positions with advice and consent of the board;
 - d. To set the initial agenda for meetings, and to preside at all meetings of the Board and the State Convention;
 - e. To bestow honors, subject to the powers and duties of the Awards Committee;
 - f. To issue the call to the State Convention;

- g. To call, give proper notice of, set the agenda for, and preside at not fewer than four Board meetings each year;
- h. Appoint Regional Directors with the advice of the Regional Clubs and consent of the board;
- i. To propose an annual budget no later than 75 days following the FLYRs State Convention;
- j. To represent the FLYRs at, and serve as the FLYRs Liaison to, the Republican Party of Florida and State Executive Committee; and
- k. To conduct all other business pertaining to the operations of the FLYRs subject to the oversight of the Executive Board.

B. Vice Chairman

- 1. The Vice Chairman shall:
 - . perform such duties as the Chairman shall designate;
 - a. in the absence of the Chairman, perform the duties of the Chairman; and
 - b. appoint and direct, with advice and consent of the board, liaisons between the Federation and other Republican auxiliary organizations.

C. Secretary

- 1. The Secretary shall:
 - . record the votes and minutes of all proceedings of the Federation;
 - a. maintain a roster of Federated clubs and their members (to be updated quarterly);
 - b. shall perform such other duties as may be designated by the Chairman; and
 - c. The Secretary may appoint assistants if necessary and desirable for the efficient performance of the duties of the office.

D. Treasurer.

- 1. The Treasurer shall receive, expend, and account for the funds of the Federation under the supervision and control of the Board;
- 2. The Treasurer shall maintain all financial records of the Federation, including but not limited to an annual budget.
 - . Funds designated for certain line items not spent within the fiscal year return to the general treasury.
- 3. The Treasurer shall conduct a biennial audit upon the beginning of each term of office.
- 4. The Treasurer shall maintain a checking account on behalf of the Federation
 - . The Treasurer may establish additional accounts as needed.

- a. For any account maintained by the Federation, both the Treasurer and the Chairman must be signatories; however, only one signature is required to issue checks.
 - b. The Treasurer can only issue checks for items delineated in the budget and those items necessarily and properly required to purchase or obtain delineated items.
 - c. All requests for reimbursement for expenditures by Board Members or other Members must be submitted within the timeframe set by the Executive Board when a budget is approved. Itemized receipts are required when available.
 5. The Treasurer shall submit written reports at all regularly called meetings of the Chairman.
 6. The Treasurer shall submit a written report to the annual State Convention prior to the election of Officers.
 7. The Treasurer may appoint assistants if necessary and desirable for the efficient performance of the duties of the office.
 - . Appointments under this item shall require advice and consent of the Executive Board.
 8. The Treasurer shall not be allowed to serve or affiliate with the FLYRs PAC at any time in order to ensure segregation of entities.
 9. The treasurer is required to submit required documentation on a yearly basis with the IRS (Organization Type 527 – Political Non-Profit) and to the state of Florida (Franchise Tax).
 10. The Treasurer shall form and serve as the chairman of a Finance Committee.
- E. National Committeeman
1. The National Committeeman shall represent the Federation at meetings of the Young Republican National Federation and report information to the Board.
 2. The National Committeeman shall represent the FLYRs at, and serve as the FLYRs Liaison to, the Republican Party of Florida and State Executive Committee.
 3. The National Committeeman shall be a biological male.
 4. The National Committeeman shall be subject to a recall vote should they miss more than 2 consecutive YRNF events without designating a proxy at which their attendance is mandatory per the YRNF bylaws.
- F. National Committeewoman
1. The National Committeewoman shall represent the Federation, along with the Chairman, at meetings of the Young Republican National Federation and report information to the Board.
 2. The National Committeewoman shall represent the FLYRs at, and serve as the FLYRs Liaison to, the Republican Party of Florida and State Executive Committee.
 3. The National Committeewoman shall be a biological female.

4. The National Committeewoman shall be subject to a recall vote should they miss more than 2 consecutive YRNF events without designating a proxy at which their attendance is mandatory per the YRNF bylaws.
- G. Political Director
1. The Political Director shall, under the direction and supervision of the Chairman, coordinate the Federation's campaign support activities and operations in order to assist Republican candidates at the local, state, and federal levels of government.
 2. The Political Director shall establish and preside over a campaign committee.
 3. The Political Director shall identify, act as a resource to, and assist Young Republican members running for public office.
 4. The Political Director shall perform other duties as directed by the Chairman.
- H. Policy Director
1. The Policy Director shall be responsible for drafting policy statements and talking points, and other items under the direction of the Chairman and in consultation with the Board.
 2. The Policy Director may form a committee if necessary or desirable for the efficient performance of the duties of the office.
 3. Neither the Policy Director nor the Policy Committee may make an official statement on behalf of FLYRs which directly contradicts the FLYRs Platform.
- I. Director of Club Development
1. The Director of Club Development shall be voted on by only the Presidents of the chartered clubs, and shall serve as the Chairman of the Presidents Association.
 2. The Director of Club Development shall be charged with the duty of developing new Clubs in accordance with these bylaws and designing a program to assist existing Clubs in the Federation under the control and supervision of the Board.
 3. The region chairs shall serve as regional directors for club development.

Section 2 - Terms of Office

- A. Elections for Elected Officers shall be conducted biennially at the State Annual Convention that is held in odd-numbered years.
- B. Officer terms shall begin at the close of the convention in which they are elected.

Section 3 - Limitations on Holding Elected Office

- A. Subject to the other provisions of this Section, any Active Member of a Federated Club, which was chartered at least 90 days prior to the opening of the convention at which elections are held, may run for an elected office.
- B. No more than three Elected Officers shall be elected from the Same Club.
- C. No person may hold two elected state offices simultaneously.

D. No person shall serve simultaneously as Chairman of the Federation and as President of a Federated Club.

1. This stipulation shall not preclude a person holding the office of President of a Federated Club from running for Chairman. However, before accepting the position of Chairman, either by election or by succession, a person must resign his or her position as President of a Federated Club effective within thirty days following election or succession.

- a. This stipulation shall apply beginning with the first elections after the ratification of this document.

E. A sitting Chairman shall not run for the office of President of a Federated Club for a term which would begin before the natural expiration of his or her term as Chairman without first resigning his or her position as Chairman.

F. No elected officer shall receive salary or wages for services provided in his or her capacity as an officer of the Federation.

Section 4 - Non-Elected Officers

A. The unpaid, non-elected Officers of the Federation shall consist of:

1. The immediate past Chairman of the Federation.
2. The following unpaid, appointed positions:
 - a. Fundraising Director
 - b. General Counsel
 1. The General Counsel shall serve as the legal representative of the Federation.
 - c. Political Action Director
 - d. Parliamentarian
 - e. Chaplain
 - f. Regional Directors
 - g. Other offices as designated by the Chairman with advice and consent of the Executive Board.
3. Executive Director

By default, the Executive Director shall be an unpaid position.

1. The Executive Committee, by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote in favor, may make the Executive Director a paid position.

a. When an executive director is appointed, the chairman shall define their purpose, scope of powers, and duration for a term of no more than 2 years

B. All non-elected officer appointments shall be made by the Chairman, subject to confirmation by simple-majority vote of the Executive Committee.

1. All paid, non-elected officer appointments shall require a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) majority vote in favor of confirmation by the executive committee.
2. Unpaid officers shall hold temporary title to the office until being approved or disapproved by the Executive Committee.

C. All Non-Elected Officers of the Federation shall be Non-Voting Members of the Executive Board.

Section 5 - Vacancies

- A. An office may be declared vacant by the Chairman if:
1. The Officer holding the office is absent, without excuse, from three or more meetings of the Board, provided that such officeholder may be reinstated for good cause upon the vote of a simple majority of the Board at the next Board Meeting.
- a. To Qualify for an excused absence, an Executive Board Member shall submit to the Chairman, either in writing or by phone call, a notice of absence at least 48 hours prior to the meeting where the member will be absent.
1. The Chairman will notify the board and, upon a simple-majority vote in favor of acceptance of the request, the board shall declare the absence 'Excused'.
 2. Examples of Excused absences shall include, but not be limited to:
 - a. Bereavement
 - b. Medical/Family Emergency
 - c. Conflict with Employment
 - d. Conflict with other Republican Events
 2. No eligible candidate be elected to that office;
- B. If an office is vacant, that office shall not be considered when determining a quorum of Elected Officers.
- C. An office may be filled by appointment, subject to the provisions outlined below.
1. Such an appointee shall hold temporary title to the office until the Board approves or disapproves of the appointment.
- D. If any elected office becomes vacant for any reason, the Chairman may appoint a successor to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term, subject to two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) approval by the executive committee.
- E. If the office of the Chairman becomes vacant for any reason, the Vice-Chairman shall assume the duties and title of that office for the remainder of the current term, and, in the role of Chairman, shall fill the vacancy in the office of Vice-Chairman, subject to approval by the Executive Committee in the process outlined in Item D. of this Section.
- F. If the offices of Chairman and Vice-Chairman become vacant simultaneously for any reason, the Treasurer shall assume the duties and title of the office of the Chairman and shall fill the vacancy in the office of the Vice-Chairman and Treasurer in the process outlined in Item D. of this Section.
- G. If the offices of Chairman, Vice Chairman, and Treasurer become vacant simultaneously for any reason, the Secretary shall assume the duties and title of the office of the Chairman and shall fill the vacancy in the offices of Vice-Chairman, Treasurer, and Secretary outlined in Item D. of this Section.
- H. Should the offices of Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Treasurer, and Secretary become vacant simultaneously for any reason, the Chairman of the President's Council shall assume the role of Acting Chairman, and immediately call for an emergency convention and elections, to be held within sixty (60) days of assuming the office of Acting Chairman.

I. If any non-elected office becomes vacant for any reason, the Chairman may fill the vacancy, subject to a simple-majority approval by the Executive Board, for the remainder of the unexpired term.

Section 6 - Removal of Elected Officers

A. The Executive Board may, by a vote in favor of three-quarters ($\frac{3}{4}$) of the Executive Board remove an Elected Officer from office for good cause.

1. Good cause shall include, but not be limited to failing or ceasing to perform the duties of the office, or ceasing to be a Member of the Federation.
2. The Chairman or any two voting Executive Board Members may propose the removal of any Elected Officer by delivering to the Chairman written Calls for Removal from Office.
3. The Chairman shall place the removal proceedings on the agenda of the first Board meeting to occur more than 35 days after receipt of sufficient Calls for Removal from Office and shall notify the Secretary.
4. The Secretary shall send written notice of removal from office to the Officer under consideration.
5. Said notice shall be sent by certified mail and by any other means likely to reach said Elected Officer and be transmitted at least thirty days in advance of the meeting.
6. Said notice shall include the grounds for removal as well as the time and place of the meeting at which removal is to be considered.
7. The Officer shall also have the opportunity to be heard at the meeting at which removal is to be considered.

B. The Association of Club Presidents, as defined in Article X Section 11, shall have the authority to remove any FLYR officer from office for just cause.

1. Just cause shall include, but not be limited to:
 - a. failing or ceasing to perform the duties of the office;
 - b. ceasing to be a Member of the Federation;
 - c. being charged with a crime during his or her term;
 - d. discovered to have a prior conviction which would preclude him or her from registering to vote in the State of Florida;
 - e. abuse of power;
 - f. support of a non-Republican candidate in an election where there is a duly-qualified Republican in the race, and;
 - g. actions that would bring disrepute onto the Republican Party of Florida and/or the Florida Young Republicans.
2. The process for removal shall require that a Petition of Removal, signed by at least one-quarter ($\frac{1}{4}$) of Club Presidents, be submitted to the Chair of the Association of Club Presidents.
3. Upon receipt of the submission, the Chair of the Association of Club Presidents shall forward the Petition to all involved parties via Certified Mail, UPS/FedEx, and/or Email with proof of delivery required.

4. The officer(s) named in the petition may submit a written response to the charges to the Association of Club Presidents within at least twenty (20) days of receipt of the petition.
5. Within (30) days of the receipt of the petition, the Association of Club Presidents must vote to remove the accused officer, with a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote in favor of the President's Council to be required for removal.
6. Additionally, the officer(s) named in the petition shall be summarily suspended, relieved of all duties, and denied access to all FLYR property pending the outcome of the motion to remove.
7. Any removals or suspensions shall create a vacancy, to be filled via the process outlined in Section 5(B) of this Article.

Section 7 - Removal of Non-Elected Officers

A. The chairman may remove any non-elected officers from office, except for Chairmen-Emeritus, with advice and consent of the Executive Board.

ARTICLE VI - FLYR EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND EXECUTIVE BOARD

Section 1 - Function and Powers

A. The Executive Committee shall be the governing body of the Federation except when the State Convention is in Session.

B. The Executive Committee shall have the power to:

1. Approve initial chartering of new Clubs;
2. Review and approve all minutes of the Executive Board; and
3. Authorize an independent audit at any time
4. By simple majority vote, modify or reverse any action taken by the Executive Board.

C. The Executive Board shall be responsible for the management of all activities of the federation, subject to the other requirements of this document.

1. The Executive Board shall have all powers necessary to carry out these duties.

D. Both the Board and the Executive Committee shall meet no less than six (6) times per year.

Section 2 - Executive Board Members

A. The voting members of the Executive Board ("the Board") shall be the elected officers of the federation.

1. The Board may approve amendments to the previously approved annual budget.

Section 3 - Executive Committee Members

A. The voting members of the Executive Committee shall be the elected Officers of the Federation, the Presidents of the Federated Clubs, Fundraising Director, General Counsel, Regional Directors and Political Action Director.

a. No person may cast more than one vote on the Executive Committee.

b. A person entitled to more than one vote by virtue of being an Elected Officer and a Club President may issue a proxy for the Club President vote according to the proxy guidelines of this document in order for the vote to be cast.

B. The Executive Committee may approve the Chairman's proposed annual budget by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote.

C. The ex-officio members of the Executive Committee shall be all officers of the Federation who are not voting members as defined above, as well as any members of the YRNF National Committee who reside in the State of Florida.

Section 4 - Open Meetings

A. The meetings of the Board and Executive Committee shall be open to all Members of the Federation.

B. The meetings of the Executive Committee held in executive session shall be open to only those members of the Executive Committee and their proxies.

C. The meetings of the Executive Board held in executive session shall be open to only those members of the Board.

Section 5 - Quorum

A. A quorum for all meetings of the Executive Board shall be fifty percent (50%) of the total members of the Executive Board, including proxies.

B. A quorum for all meetings of the Executive Committee shall be fifty percent (50%) of the total members of the Executive Committee.

Section 6 - Call and Notice

A. The Chairman or any three members of the Executive Committee or Board shall have the right to call a meeting of the Board in person, by conference call, or any other electronic means approved by the board.

1. No less than five days notice thereof to all voting members of the Board shall be required for all calls to any meeting of the Executive Committee or Executive Board.

B. Such notice may be waived by the approval of each voting member who did not receive such notice.

ARTICLE VII - STATE CONVENTIONS

Section 1 - Date of Convention

A. The Annual Convention of the Federation shall be held each year, during the period from January 1-March 31 (the first Quarter).

B. The Board shall establish the precise date(s) of the convention and notify all Federated Clubs of the same no later than ninety (90) days prior to the convention date.

Section 2 - Logistics

A. The selection of a site for the Annual convention shall be completed prior to the selection of dates as delineated in Section 1 of this article, and shall be subject to the procedure as outlined in Article XI, Section 2 of these bylaws.

B. Other matters and procedures pertaining to the State Convention (such as sponsorship, registration fees, and procedures, logistics, record keeping, etc.) shall be determined by the host organization, subject to the oversight and authority of the Executive Committee.

Section 3 - Finances

A. If the income is greater than the expenses, the profit shall be split evenly between the FLYRs and the host organization.

Section 4 - Delegates.

A. A Credentials Committee, to be composed of the FLYR Secretary, each of the Regional Chairmen/women, and One At-Large Member Appointed by the Chair, shall provide delegate and alternate allotments for all State Conventions.

B. Submissions to the Credentials Committee.

1. Each Federated Club shall quarterly submit a list of their current Active Members to the Credentials Committee no later than fifteen (15) days prior to a convention.
2. Any Federated Club who fails to submit the required information as outlined in this subsection shall forfeit any delegates and alternates they would have otherwise been entitled to.

C. Each Federated Club shall provide in its Constitution for the method of Delegate and Alternate selection for such Club, provided that all Delegates and Alternates are Active Members of such Club.

D. Delegate Strength - See table attached in Appendix A for examples

1. For the First 10 Members, all Federated Clubs are entitled to a minimum of three (3) Delegates and three (3) Alternates.
2. All Federated Clubs with 20 or more Active Members shall be entitled to:
 - a. One (1) Delegate and One (1) Alternate in addition to the minimum number of Delegates/Alternates for each ten (10) of its Active Members for the first two-hundred (200) members and;
 - b. One Delegate and one Alternate for every 20 members thereafter who have otherwise complied with this section and who were Members at least twenty (20) days prior to the general session of the State Convention.
3. Federated Clubs which are granted a charter within ninety (90) days of a convention shall be entitled to two (2) Delegates and (2) two Alternates, regardless of size of membership.

Section 5. Voting

A. Delegates from any Member Clubs who are granted a charter within ninety (90) days of the date of a convention shall not be entitled to vote on any matters brought before an FLYR convention, including but not limited to:

1. Elections of FLYR Officers
2. Constitutional Amendments

B. Each Delegate shall be entitled to one vote on matters voted upon at the State Convention.

C. No Delegate or Alternate may attend the general session until such Delegate or Alternate has properly registered at the State Convention.

Section 6. Quorum

A. A quorum for the State Convention shall be one-half (½) of eligible delegates.

Section 7. Rules

A. The Executive Committee shall establish the rules of conventions.

ARTICLE VIII - NATIONAL FEDERATION

Section 1. Affiliation and Subordination

A. The Florida Young Republicans shall be and remain an affiliated organization of the Young Republican National Federation (“YRNF”).

B. The Florida Young Republicans may not unilaterally secede from the YRNF.

C. All officers and members of the federation are subject to the Rules and Bylaws of the YRNF, including any dispute rulings by the YRNF Dispute Committee.

Section 2. National Convention

A. Each President of a Federated Club shall present to the Chairman, or their designee, a list of proposed delegates and alternates to the National Convention by the deadline determined by the Chairman and subject to Section 2.G.

1. Each delegate and candidate shall be a member in good standing of both the proposing club and the FLYRs, interested in becoming a delegate or alternate, and committed to attending the National Convention.

B. Appeal for inclusion by an un-sponsored delegate or alternate candidates: Any member not included in the list proposed by the respective Club President may appeal to the Chairman, or a designee of the Chairman, for inclusion on the list of proposed delegates and alternates.

1. These un-sponsored candidates must be in good standing of a Federated Club and the FLYRs and wish to serve as a delegate or alternate to the National Convention.
2. The exclusive remedy for inclusion for consideration is an appeal, presented in writing to the Chairman, or designee of the Chairman, prior to the ratification of the final delegate and alternate list.

C. Selection and ratification of the delegates and alternates: The Chairman, or designee of the Chairman, shall compile the master list of delegate and alternate candidates. The master list shall include the following:

1. All club-sponsored delegate and alternate candidates submitted in compliance with Section 2.A.; and
2. All unsponsored delegates and alternate candidates whose appeals were submitted in compliance with Section 2.B.

- D. The Executive Board shall meet to determine the approved list of delegates and alternates from the master list.
- E. The Executive Board has the authority to approve or disapprove candidates and, at the discretion of the Executive Board, create conditions for approval of individual candidates.
- F. A simple majority vote of the Executive Board is required for all matters pertaining to conditioning, ratification, or amendment of the delegate and alternate list.
- G. The delegate and alternate list shall be compiled and submitted in accordance with the YRNF Constitution, Bylaws, and Credentialing Procedure and Rules.

Section 3. Annual State Survey Submission and Compliance

- A. Each Federated Club shall annually submit a list of their current Active Members, the dues associated with all Active members, and a copy of the club's governing documents to the Credentials Committee by an electronic means approved by the Board no later than February 28th of each year.
- B. Any club that fails to submit the required information and dues as described in this section will be immediately suspended and not be allotted delegates or alternates to subsequent FLYR conventions.

ARTICLE IX - COMMITTEES

Section 1 - Standing Committees

- A. The Following committees are hereby established as Standing Committees of the Florida Federation of Young Republicans:
 - 1. Events Committee
 - 2. Credentials Committee
 - 3. Awards Committee
 - 4. Platform Committee
 - 5. Bylaws Committee
 - 6. Finance Committee
- B. The voting members of all Standing Committees shall be, unless otherwise stated in this Article:
 - 1. The Chairman of the Committees, appointed by the Chairman of the Federation and approved by the Board, and
 - 2. One active member appointed to each committee by the President of each Federated Club.
- C. Each member of the committee shall be entitled to only one vote, and the Committee Chairmen may only vote to break a tie.
- D. All Committees shall meet immediately prior to the State Convention, and thereafter at the call of the committee Chairman.

Section 2 - Events Committee

- A. This Events Planning Committee shall be a standing committee, and shall be made up of the following voting members: the Treasurer of the FLYRs and the Chairman of the FLYRs.
- B. The remaining voting members shall be one member per each region, appointed on the advice of the Regional Director.

- C. The Events Planning Committee shall be tasked with the following responsibilities:
1. Planning/Coordinating all statewide events to be hosted in conjunction with a local chapter that will utilize FLYR financial resources including, but not limited to:
 - a. Annual Meetings;
 - b. Quarterly Meetings;
 - c. Statewide Deployments; and
 - d. any other Events to be hosted in-conjunction with a local chapter.
 2. Reviewing all bid-submissions from local clubs, as outlined in this subsection, to host any statewide event, including but not limited to:
 - . Annual Meetings;
 - a. Quarterly Meetings; and
 - b. Statewide Deployments.
- D. Local Clubs that are interested in hosting a statewide event shall submit a Bid Application package to the Events Planning Committee no later than 6 (six) months prior to the date of the proposed event.
1. Said application must, at a minimum, contain the following:
 - . The proposed Date(s) and times of the event;
 - a. The proposed location of the events;
 - b. Proposed Hotel Accommodations/Pricing;
 - c. Proposed outline of events/agenda for the event;
 - d. A proposed budget outlining the cost for the event and any proposed ticket price (to be priced per person) for attendees; and
 - e. A copy of the club's most recent Financial Records showing that they have adequate funds to cover the requested budget
 2. Temporary/Preliminary copies of any proposed Hotel Accommodations/Pricing and outline of events/agenda for the event will be acceptable for the purposes of the application.
 3. Said application shall, at the applicant's discretion, also contain the following:
 - . A request for the FYR to financially assist, via a block grant, the local chapter with hosting the event, outlining a requested dollar amount that would be needed to successfully host said event.
 4. Upon receipt of the application, the committee shall convene within fourteen (14) days (2 weeks) to review the application and vote on whether or not to approve the application.
 - . If the local club has requested financial assistance as per item (1)b above, the Treasurer shall provide the committee with a financial feasibility report outlining whether they believe the event will be financially feasible.
 5. To cure deficiencies in a proposal, a simple majority vote of the Board shall suffice.
 6. An application shall be deemed approved if at least 51% of the committee votes in favor of approval.

7. Once approved, the application will be forwarded via the treasurer to the Executive Board to be presented at the next executive board meeting.

Section 3. Credentials Committee

- A. The Credentials Committee shall review the compliance of each Club with the Continuing Charter Requirements set forth above, or in the case of Clubs which became federated since the last convention, that Club's compliance with the Initial Charter Requirements.
- B. The Credentials Committee shall recommend to the Convention that only the delegations of Clubs in compliance with the applicable Requirements be seated.
- C. The Credentials Committee shall also ensure that the Delegates and Alternates of a Federated Club meet the appropriate requirements as specified in these Bylaws.

Section 4 - Rules Committee

- A. The Rules Committee shall propose the rules of the State Convention.

Section 5 - Awards Committee

- A. The Awards Committee shall recognize outstanding accomplishments on the part of Members and Federated Clubs.
- B. The specific awards given, as well as the qualifications and requirements for such awards, will be established by the Board and communicated to all Club Presidents no less than ninety (90) days prior to the annual State Convention.

Section 6 - Platform Committee

- A. The Platform Committee shall recommend the adoption of resolutions by the State Convention and recommend changes to the current platform of the Republican Party of Florida.
- B. Resolutions adopted shall not contradict the currently adopted Republican Party of Florida platform but may recommend changes to said platform.

Section 7 - Bylaws Committee

- A. Bylaws Committee. The Bylaws Committee shall consider proposed amendments to these Bylaws and make recommendations with respect to the same.

Section 8 - Association of Club Presidents

- A. The Association of Club Presidents shall have voting members only consisting of all of the Presidents from the chartered clubs.
 1. The elected Chair of the Presidents Association will also serve as the Director of Club Development.
 2. A Vice Chair shall also be voted on by the Presidents.
- B. The Association of Club Presidents may adopt its own bylaws which are supplementary to, but not in direct conflict with, these bylaws.

ARTICLE X - REGIONS

Section 1 - In General

- A. Regional Federations shall be established to nurture the development of clubs, growth of membership, networking opportunities and conduct campaign activities across a geographic region consisting of multiple federated clubs.

B. The Florida Young Republicans shall consist of no more than seven (7) regions, each of which are defined to include the following counties:

1. Region 1 - West Central Florida

- a. Citrus
- b. DeSoto
- c. Hardee
- d. Hernando
- e. Hillsborough
- f. Manatee
- g. Pasco
- h. Pinellas
- i. Polk
- j. Sarasota

2. Region 2 - Southwest Florida

- . Charlotte
- a. Collier
- b. Glades
- c. Hendry
- d. Highlands
- e. Lee

3. Region 3 - South Florida

- . Broward
- a. Martin
- b. Miami-Dade
- c. Monroe
- d. Palm Beach
- e. St. Lucie

4. Region 4 - East Central Florida

- . Brevard
- a. Indian River
- b. Lake
- c. Okeechobee
- d. Orange
- e. Osceola
- f. Seminole
- g. Sumter
- h. Volusia

5. Region 5 - North Florida

- . Alachua
- a. Baker
- b. Bradford
- c. Clay
- d. Columbia
- e. Dixie

- f. Duval
- g. Flagler
- h. Gilchrist
- i. Levy
- j. Marion
- k. Nassau
- l. Putnam
- m. St Johns
- n. Suwannee
- o. Union

6. Region 6 - Big Bend

- . Franklin
- a. Gadsden
- b. Hamilton
- c. Jefferson
- d. Lafayette
- e. Leon
- f. Liberty
- g. Madison
- h. Taylor
- i. Wakulla

7. Region 7 - Northwest Florida

- . Bay
- a. Calhoun
- b. Escambia
- c. Gulf
- d. Holmes
- e. Jackson
- f. Okaloosa
- g. Santa Rosa
- h. Walton

C. Regional federations shall host quarterly meetings, whether virtually or in-person.

D. Regional Federations shall have biannual in-person conferences consisting of one social and one political/campaign related to foster community among the local organizations. Cost of attendance shall be no more than \$100 per event and be accessible to all members of the Federation and its clubs.

Section 2 - Regional Boards

A. Regions shall elect a board consisting of the following positions:

1. Regional Chairman

a. Shall call meetings, oversee the hosting of events for the region, and report to the Director of Club Development on new clubs in the region.

2. Regional Vice-Chairman

. Shall assist the Chairmen in all duties and assume the role of the Chairmen in the case of their absence.

3. Regional Secretary: Shall record the minutes of the committee and submit all records to the FLYRs Secretary.
- B. Regional Federations shall have a Regional Committee that consists of the president of each member club or designated liaison to coordinate any and all business pertaining to the region.
- C. Clubs shall vote proportionately to their convention voting strength for the election of regional positions. Unless there are less than 3 clubs in a region, no club shall hold more than one seat on the Regional Board.

ARTICLE XI - ENDORSEMENTS

Section 1 - Endorsements by the Federation

- A. Subject to the Prohibitions outlined in Section 3 of this article, the Federation may endorse a Republican candidate in any partisan race by:
1. A two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) majority vote in favor of endorsement by the Executive Committee.
- B. The Federation may choose to endorse in a Local Race at the request of a Federated Club.

Section 2 - Endorsements by Federated Clubs

- A. Federated clubs may endorse candidates in local and county-wide races only, subject to the Prohibitions outlined in Section 3 of this Article.

Section 3 - Prohibition of Endorsements

- A. Neither the Federation, any Federated Club, nor any Officer of a Federated Club or of the Federation in his or her official capacity, shall endorse a candidate in any partisan race in which there are more than one Republican candidate.
1. Exceptions to this prohibition include and are limited to:
 - a. Races in which an official Republican nominee has been selected by the Republican Party either through a primary or an endorsement.
 - b. Races in which the candidate seeking endorsement is an active, dues-paying member of a Federated Club.
- B. No Federated club shall endorse candidates in any races outside of their local jurisdiction(s) as described in the approved bylaws from the last re-chartering.
- C. All members of the Florida Young Republicans, including Officers of a Club or of the Federation, is permitted to endorse a candidate so long as it is in his or her individual capacity.
1. Any such endorsement shall require of the Officer or Member making such endorsement to specify that any reference relating to their title, membership, or position in the Florida YRs is for identification purposes only.

ARTICLE XII - MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1. Roster

- A. The roster or any mailing list of the Federation shall be available to all members of the Federation for Federation activities and functions.

B. The roster may be provided to the Young Republican National Federation to comply with continuing charter requirements.

C. The roster or any mailing shall not be furnished to any other person or entity, for any purpose, without the prior approval of the Board.

1. Such request must be made, in writing, to the secretary no more than 48 hours before an executive board meeting.

Section 2 - Marketing During Federation Function

A. No product shall be marketed at any Federation function without prior approval of the board.

Section 3. Use of Federation Name

A. Except for current members, any person or entity employing the name of the Federation must have prior approval of the Board.

Section 4. Vote Required

A. Whenever these Bylaws require approval of any action or decision, whether by the Board, the Membership, or any other body, then that approval shall require a simple-majority (50% + 1) vote of that body in favor, unless otherwise stated in these bylaws.

Section 5. Non-Discrimination

A. The Federation opposes any type of discrimination based on race, color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, or religious belief. The right of any person to be a Member of the Federation shall not be abridged on account of any of these factors.

Section 6. Interpretation

A. Any dispute or question concerning the interpretation or meaning of these Bylaws shall be determined by the Board; the Board should consult the opinions of any available Chairman Emeritus and the General Counsel regarding any such question.

Section 7. Parliamentary Procedure

A. Except where inconsistent with this document, all meetings shall be governed by the most recently revised edition of Robert's Rules of Order.

Section 8. Copy of Bylaws

A. A copy of these Bylaws shall be provided to any Member or Federated Club by the Secretary upon request.

B. A copy of these bylaws shall be made available on the FLYR website for download by the public.

Section 9. Definitions

A. As used in this document, the following definitions shall apply:

1. Club President - the chief elected officer of a Federated Club, whether called President, Chairman, or otherwise
2. Delegate - any delegate or duly seated alternate delegate
3. Board - the Florida Young Republicans Executive Board
4. Federation - the Florida Young Republicans
5. FLYR/FLYRs - the Florida Young Republicans

6. YRNF - the Young Republican National Federation
7. Federated Club - Local YR Chapters chartered by the FLYRs.

Section 10. Fiscal Year

A. The fiscal year of the Federation shall be From January 1, running through December 31 of each calendar year.

Section 11. Indemnification and Insurance

A. The federation may provide indemnification to any of its Officers or Members and may purchase and maintain insurance as desired.

Section 12. Legal Unit Rule

A. All delegates are free to vote without restriction and without retaliation.

ARTICLE XIII - AMENDMENTS

Section 1. Amendments to the Bylaws

A. Any proposed amendment to these Bylaws must be submitted either in writing or electronically and received by the Chairman of the Bylaws Committee no less than ten (10) days prior to the general session of the annual State Convention.

B. The Bylaws Committee Chairman shall have distributed all the proposed amendments to committee members and Club Presidents no less than five (5) days prior to the Convention.

C. The Chairman of the Bylaws Committee shall report on all proposed amendments to the Convention and provide the Committee's recommendation with regard to the same, as well as any other information the Committee deems appropriate.

D. Each amendment shall require at least a two-thirds affirmative vote of the seated Delegates of the State Convention.

Section 2. Amendments Proposed to the Executive Board

A. Amendments to the Bylaws may be submitted in writing to the Executive Board with no fewer than the signatures of ten (10) voting members of the board.

B. To warrant consideration, Bylaws amendments must be submitted to the Board at least fourteen (14) days prior to the Board meeting at which they are first considered, at which point the Board shall consider, but not vote on the proposed changes.

C. The Board shall not have the power to approve Bylaws changes until the subsequent Board meeting, and only after the membership of the Florida Young Republican Federation has had at least 21 days notice of the proposed By-Laws changes being voted on at a board meeting of the FLYRs.

D. No amendment to the By-Laws shall be adopted except by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of those Board members present at the subsequent FLYRs Board meeting following the Board meeting at which the changes were first considered.

E. Amendments to the Bylaws may be submitted in writing to the Bylaws Committee with no fewer than the signatures of ten persons.

1. This committee shall be appointed by the Chairman no fewer than thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the State Convention.
 2. This committee shall be the custodian of the Bylaws and shall make recommendations to the Board or the Convention as appropriate.
- F. Amendments to the Bylaws may be submitted to the Chair of the Bylaws Committee in writing fourteen (14) days before the Convention to be eligible to be approved by a two-thirds ($\frac{2}{3}$) vote of the Delegates at the Convention.
1. Amendments submitted under this subsection are not required to receive signatures of ten persons. However, they shall be distributed to Club Presidents in a similar manner to Bylaws Amendments as described under Section 1 of this Article.
 2. The Bylaws Committee shall coordinate to amend any Bylaws which will conflict with Bylaws Amendments approved under Section 1 of this Article.
- a. These Bylaws Amendments are subject to approval by a simple-majority vote of the Delegates at the Convention.
- G. Any proposed Amendments to the Bylaws shall be amended on the floor, or by the author up to 2-days prior to the convention where the vote on the amendment will take place.

ARTICLE XIV - ADOPTION

Section 1 - Supremacy

- A. These Bylaws shall take effect immediately upon the close of the March 18, 2023 Convention.
- B. These Bylaws hereby replace, supersede and declare null and void any and all Constitution and Bylaws that may have been previously adopted by the Florida Young Republicans and the Florida Federation of Young Republicans.
- C. These Bylaws are hereby declared the only governing document of the Federation.
- D. Where these bylaws conflict with any Constitutions/Bylaws of Federated Clubs, these bylaws shall supersede and govern.

Section 2 - Adopted

- A. The undersigned officers of the Florida Young Republicans hereby certify that these Bylaws were duly adopted by the Florida Young Republicans on the 18th day of March, 2023.
1. David Neuman, FLYR Chairman
 2. Josiah Gattle, FLYR Secretary